### ELIZABETH VIRGINIA DEW In Vitro Maturation (IVM) of the Canine Oocyte. (Under the direction of RICHARD A. FAYRER-HOSKEN)

This research examines culture techniques to improve nuclear maturation of canine oocytes in vitro. The primary objective of these experiments was to test individual; 1) estradiol or progesterone, 2) FSH, 3) eCG, 4) LH, 5) L-cysteine, 6) arachidonic acid, effects and varying lengths of culture on IVM of canine oocytes. The effects of the individual treatment media was compared to control media containing no supplement.

For all experiments, the oocytes were collected from bitches undergoing ovariohysterectomies. Nuclear maturation assessment used Hoechst 33342 fluorescent stain. In total, 8,536 oocytes were examined in these experiments. A significant (p<0.05) improvement for maturation rates of oocytes to metaphase II was obtained when they were cultured for 96 hours with rFSH. All other media supplements tested did not significantly increase maturation of canine oocytes. For future canine oocyte nuclear maturation, rFSH should be used, probably, in conjunction with other supplements.

INDEX WORDS: canine, in vitro maturation, oocyte

# IN VITRO MATURATION OF THE CANINE OOCYTE

by

## ELIZABETH VIRGINIA DEW

B.S., Davidson College, 1997

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of The University of Georgia in Partial Fulfillment

of the

Requirements of the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

ATHENS, GEORGIA 2001

© 2001

Elizabeth Virginia Dew

All Rights Reserved.

# IN VITRO MATURATION OF THE CANINE OOCYTE

by

# ELIZABETH VIRGINIA DEW

Approved:

Major Professor: Committee: Richard A. Fayrer-Hosken Hugh D. Dookwah George B. Rampacek

Electronic Version Approved: Gordhan L. Patel Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia December 2001

# DEDICATION

These manuscripts are dedicated to my family and my fiancée, without their constant love and support my graduate education would not have been possible.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the many local veterinary clinics whose clinicians were kind enough to save canine ovaries for my project. My committee members Doctors Dookah and Rampacek along with my major professor Dr. Fayrer-Hosken have provided much needed guidance along the way. Also, much thanks goes to John Cartee and his expert ovary transport skills.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESviii
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW1
Introduction 1
Canine Oocyte Development, Maturation and Ovulation2
Oocyte Morphology5
Oocyte Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Maturation 6
Reproductive Hormone Serum Concentration in the Bitch9
Basic In Vitro Maturation Media10
IVM Medias Supplemented With Hormones 12
Experiments Resulting in In Vitro Fertilized Canine Embryos14
Evaluating Oocyte Nuclear Maturation 17
Degenerate Oocytes18
Clinical Implications and Future Uses 19
References

II. THE EFFECTS OF PROGESTERONE, ESTRA TEINE AND ARACHIDONIC ACID ON CAN	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
III. CONCLUSION	56

# LIST OF TABLES

# THE EFFECTS OF PROGESTERONE, ESTRADIOL, rFSH, eCG, L-CYSTEINE AND ARACHIDONIC ACID ON CANINE OOCYTE IVM

Table 1: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 24 hour culture	48
Table 2: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 48 hour culture	48
Table 3: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 72 hour culture	49
Table 4: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 96 hour culture	49
Table 5: Experiment 2 FSH 24 hour culture	50
Table 6: Experiment 2 FSH 48 hour culture	50
Table 7: Experiment 2 FSH 72 hour culture	51
Table 8: Experiment 2 FSH 96 hour culture	51
Table 9: Experiment 3 eCG 24 hour culture	52
Table 10: Experiment 3 eCG 48 hour culture	52
Table11: Experiment 3 eCG 72 hour culture	53
Table 12: Experiment 3 eCG 96 hour culture	53
Table 13: Experiment 4 LH 96 hour culture	54
Table 14: Experiment 5 L-cysteine 96 hour culture	54
Table 15: Experiment 6 Arachidonic acid 72 hour culture	55

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

#### INTRODUCTION

Over the past 50 years, scientists have made great progress in the field of assisted reproduction technologies (ART) for a variety of species. Bovine in vitro maturation (IVM) and in vitro fertilization (IVF) techniques have served well as a model for developing similar systems for other species including human, goat, and feline. Live births of IVF off-spring are frequent in veterinary and human medicine, Application of IVM/IVF technologies in the dog, however, have beenextremly problematic. Techniques successfully developed for other species have yet to produce IVF puppies. Reports of in vitro produced canine embryos are rare. Successful transfer of canine embryos which were in vivo fertilized in one bitch, and transferred to the uterus of an estrus synchronized surrogate bitch was achieved in 1989 resulting in the birth of 3 live puppies (17). To date, only one pregnancy from IVF has been reported in the dog (7). This pregnancy did not go to term. This implies that once successful and repeatable techniques have been developed for IVM and IVF of canine oocytes, it will be possible to use embryo transfer to an estrus synchronized bitch to obtain live births and offer this technique as a possible clinical treatment for infertility.

A possible explanation of the difficulties experienced with IVM of canine oocytes may be attributed to the unusual dog reproductive cycle and physiology (1). In contrast to most species, the dog ovulates an immature or primary oocyte at the germinal vesicle stage of nuclear maturation (1). Upon ovulation in the bitch, which occurs two days after the LH surge. The primary oocyte having immature nuclear components, leaves the ovarian follicle and enters the bursa and canine oviduct. While in the oviduct, the oocyte undergoes nuclear maturation to metaphase II up to two days after ovulation. The oviductal oocytes are then fertilized (1,15). Additionally, the morphology of the canine oocyte is markedly different from that of many other species. Most notable is the dense "lipid-like" material within the ooplasm (1). This lipid-like material has made staining and nuclear assessment of the canine oocyte especially challenging.

Development of IVM/IVF techniques providing successful production of viable canine embryos for embryo transfer, would be applicable to many facets of veterinary medicine both clinical and research. Overcoming the current difficulties associated with the application of IVM/IVF in the dog will provide scientists and veterinarians a greater understanding of canine reproductive physiology. Further, improved IVM/ IVF techniques in the dog will lead to the application of ART to conserve valuable genetic resources in a variety of endangered canids and other species.

#### CANINE OOCYTE DEVELOPMENT, MATURATION AND OVULATION

The mammalian female haploid germ cell is termed an oocyte. Oocytes first develop in female mammals prior to birth. Haploid germ cells are derived from primordial germ cells which are first visible in the epithelium of the dorsal endoderm of the embryonic yolk sac, near the allantois (1). Primordial germ cells migrate from the embryonic yolk sac, proceeding along the embryo's hindgut, to reach their final destination in the ventral embryonic kidney (1). Migration of the primordial germ cells occurs by an amoeboid like movement enhanced by chemotactic factors released by the presumptive gonads that attract primordial germ cells to this region (1). Throughout their migration, primordial germ cells are undergoing mitosis and, therefore, increasing in number (1).

Upon completing migration, germ cells reach an area referred to as the genital ridge, the site of gonad development (1). Within the genital ridge, germ cells are termed oogonia in the XX (female) embryo and prospermatogonia in the XY (male) embryo (1). In the human embryonic ovary, oogonia begin the transformation to oocytes during the third month of gestation when meiotic prophase commences (1). By the time of birth, all germ cells in the human female infant have become oocytes (1). A wide variation is seen among females of various species regarding the stage of development for commencement of meiosis, al-though for most species, meiosis has been reported to begin at a point prior to birth (1).

In contrast to males, females are born with a finite number of germ cells. Once mitotic division has ceased, the oogonium is termed an oocyte and meiotic division begins. Meiosis of the initially diploid germ cell, referred to as a primary oocyte, is composed of two stages, the first of which results in a haploid cell. Exchange of genetic information between chromosomes can occur during the first division of meiosis in a processes referred to as crossing over. Having undergone the first meiotic division a primary oocyte is now referred to as a secondary oocytes which is haploid, containing 23 chromosomes (1). During the second meiotic division, each pair of chromatids is separated resulting in an egg with single, unpaired chromosomes (1).

Meiotic cell division is divided into four different phases: prophase, metaphase, anaphase and telophase (1). Interphase is used to describe the time between successive cell cycles; DNA replication occurs during interphase (1). Prophase of the first meiotic division is divided into five stages for discussion: leptotene, zygotene, pachytene, diplotene and diakinesis. Diakinesis is also referred to as germinal vesicle stage (1). The long prophase of the first meiotic division contains two periods of time when development is arrested, the dictyate stage and either metaphase I or II (1).

For most mammalian species, while vesicular and growing follicles are evident in the female ovary within the first few days of birth, meiotic prophase ceases at the diplotene stage within a week of birth. During puberty, initiation of the cyclic secretion of reproductive hormones causes follicular growth to continue allowing resumption of meiosis to occur as the result of preovulatory changes in the Graafian follicle, After initiation of puberty,

during each estrus cycle, initial follicular growth begins with an increase in the size of the oocyte, the granulosa cells becoming more cuboidal, along with formation of the zona pellucida (1). As the anterior pituitary hormone, follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), induces follicles to grow and mature. The number of granulosa cells surrounding the growing follicles increases as does the amount of fluid that accumulates between the granulosa cells forming a cavity termed the antrum of the follicle (1). Follicles containing a fluid filled antrum are referred to as Graafian follicles (1). The final growth of Graafian follicles is dependent not only on FSH but also the presence of LH. Final preovulatory maturation of Graafian follicles and oocytes for most mammals occurs during a change in the ratio of FSH and LH. This time shortly before ovulation is particularly noted by an increase in circulating LH. For most mammalian species, during the LH surge an increase in antrum fluid in the Graafian follicle occurs simultaneously with the resumption of meiosis within the oocytes (1). Ultimately ovulation commences, after which, the ruptured follicle becomes the corpus hemorrhegica which becomes the corpus luteum. This produces the steroid hormone progesterone, crucial for maintaining pregnancy (1). Due to a finite number of germ cells at birth in the female, the number of oocytes a female has remaining in the ovary will continually decline due to ovulation as the animal ages until a halt of reproductive function in some species as seen in humans during menopause (1).

For most mammals, the egg, the primary oocyte present at the beginning of preovulatory maturation and has reached metaphase of the second meiotic division (MII) prior to ovulation (1). This is not true for the fox and dog which ovulate a primary oocytes containing an intact germinal vesicle or considered to be in a stage shortly after the start of the first meiotic division (MI) (1). Oocytes of the dog and fox complete the first meiotic division and extrusion of the first polar body after ovulation, once the oocyte is in the oviduct (1).

#### OOCYTE MORPHOLOGY

Morphology of the canine oocyte includes a cytoplasm bound by a plasma membrane containing the nucleus, or condensed chromosomes, and various organelles. Mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus comprise the majority of organelles of the oocyte (1). While the oocyte is within the ovary, the Golgi apparatus plays an important role in yolk synthesis and formation of cortical granules which are a key factor during fertilization in preventing polyspermy (1). Spindles which developed from microtubules, form during meiosis and mitosis to aid in the alignment of chromosomes (1). Cumulus cells are thought to play a vital role in providing the oocyte with nourishment while in the follicle (1). These cells also provide a surface for fimbrial cilia to work against while the egg is being transported within the oviduct (1).

Morophologic changes that occur within the canine oocyte during different stages of the estrus cycle may affect the ability of the canine oocyte to communicate with cumulus cells involving meiotic competence (18). In mammalian ovaries, gap junctions exist between the somatic compartment of the follicle and the oocyte. Philips and Dekel described these gap junctions as being involved in the regulation of oocyte meiotic differentiation and maturation leading to the acquisition of meiotic and developmental competence (24). Luvoni et al microinjected 3% Lucifer Yellow solution into canine oocytes collected during different stages of the estrus cycle to evaluate the presence of cumulus-oocyte communications through gap junctions (18). For oocytes collected during late proestrus, 89% (16/18) exhibited open cumulus-oocyte communications through gap junctions, compared to 0% (0/20) for oocytes collected during anestrus (18). When using canine oocytes obtained during anestrus in a culture system, effective media and culture conditions induce open communications between the oocyte and cumulus cells.

#### OOCYTE NUCLEAR AND CYTOPLASMIC MATURATION

IVM work in the dog has focused mainly on oocyte nuclear maturation. Very little research has examined the cytoplasmic maturation of the canine oocyte and the important role in fertilization that these cytoplasmic components may play. Recent research in other species shows the important role oocytes' cytoplasmic components play to induce oocyte activation during fertilization (5). Species examined for these studies by Ducibella (mouse, bovine, pig and human), all ovulate a mature oocyte, unlike the dog. For most mammals, the newly ovulated oocyte (at MII) is activated in response to fertilization by a sperm, reacting as follows: cortical granule release to establish polyspermy block, reinitiation of cell cycle, pronucleus formation, and protein synthesis (5). Changes going on inside of the oocyte before and upon reaching nuclear maturation affect the oocyte's ability to release and respond to intracellular calcium; Ducibella reported cytoplasmic components including calcium levels and cortical granual arrangement of the oocytes during immature nuclear status (pre-ovulation for the animals used) were altered when compared to these structures in the mature MII (post ovulation for his animal) oocyte (5). As the oocyte approaches MII, previously clustered cortical granules disperse and migrate close to the cell membrane. At fertilization, elevation in cystolic calcium stimulates a PIP2, IP3, DAG second messenger system which will cause the cortical granule exocytation, resulting in a block to prevent polyspermy, and cell cycle resumption including new protein synthesis (5).

The entry of cells into M (mitosis or meiosis) phase of the cells cycle is initiated by protein kinases referred to as maturation-promoting factor (MPF) (16). MPF contains two subunits termed the catalytic and regulatory subunits. The catalytic subunit transfers a phosphate group from ATP to specific serine and threonine residues of specific protein substrates. The regulatory subunit is referred to as cyclin. cell cycle (16). When the cyclin concentration is low, kinase lacks the cyclin subunit causing to be inactive (16). As the cyclin concentration rises, the kinase is activated and the cell enters the M phase of the cell

cycle. Ducibella hypothesized that "higher [MAP] kinase levels of newly ovulated eggs require multiple calcium oscillation [prior to fertilization] to drive their levels below threshold for cell cycle resumption" (5). In contrast, older ovulated oocytes have a decrease in MAP kinase levels and need only a single calcium rise for activation (5). For mouse oocytes which have reached MII, a single or very few calcium spikes are enough to stimulate cortical granule exocytosis; at other points calcium oscillations are seen (5). The amplitude, duration, frequency and number of calcium oscillation the oocyte is exposed to may have a rolein encouraging the oocyte activation response (5).

Ducibella observed that preovulatory oocytes (prior to maturing to MII) could be penetrated by sperm but "failed to undergo normal activation in many species" (5). He attributed "cortical granule migration to subplasmal position during meiotic maturation" as the reason for the inability of preovulatory (immature nuclear components) oocytes to undergo cortical granule release and to establish zona pellucida block (5). Sperm penetration of these immature oocytes resulted in a high rate of polyspermy (5). Mouse and human oocytes at the germinal vesicle stage have a large number of cortical granules in their cortex, "which fail to undergo release after fertilization" (5). "The signaling pathway required of cortical granule exocytosis may become fully competent only after meiotic maturation to MII complete" (5). In vivo, canine fertilization studies by Van der Stricht, as early as 1923, report sperm penetration of oocytes at several stages of maturity including the dictyotene (germinal vesicle) stage (26). Austin and Short and Van der Stricht report that dog and fox spermatozoa may penetrate oocytes at any stage of development post ovulation but the sperm head remains almost unchanged until extrusion of the second polar body (1,26). Fresh ejaculated canine sperm can remain viable up to 268 hours in the estrus bitch's reproductive tract; mating resulting in fertilization can occur from 3 days before until a week after ovulation (19,4,28). Noting that the first polar body is extruded 3 days after ovulation in vivo, while the oocyte is in the oviduct, compared to the longevity of canine sperm once in the estrus female reproductive tract, it is likely that sperm come in contact with immature canine oocytes in vivo (25,19,28). Mahi and Yanagamichi report "the vitellus of dictyate oocytes to not only be penetrable by spermatozoa, but also capable of decondensing sperm nuclei" (19). Dictyate oocytes capable of penetration by spermatozoa, sperm nuclei decondensation, and formation of male pronuclei would be a useful tool in developing the canine in vitro fertilization model especially considering the difficulties encountered in maturing canine oocytes in vitro. Similar to Mahi and Yanagimachi's reports, Hewitt and England have published that "the effect of nuclear maturation of oocytes had no effect upon spermatozoal penetration and immature oocytes could be penetrated by spermatozoa in the canine" although is important note that to date, only one pregnancy, which last past 21 days, and no puppies born from in vitro fertilized canine oocytes of any stage of meiotic maturity (10).

Oocyte nuclear maturation and cytoplasmic maturation are considered independent events that occur in vivo during concurrent times. In mouse oocytes, a failure of cytoplasmic maturation can result in MI or MII arrested oocytes that have lower rates of fertilization and development to the blastocyst stage (5). In humans, incomplete cytoplasmic activation has been recognized as the cause of failed fertilization after Intra Cytoplasmic Sperm Injection (ICSI) for Metaphase II oocytes collected after exogenous hormonal stimulation (5). Changes in zona pellucida morphology, and an increased sensitivity of IP3 receptors in the oocyte are two other cytoplasmic changes that occur as the oocyte proceeds from the germinal vesicle to MII during maturation (5). Although reports have stated that immature canine oocytes can be penetrated by sperm, none fertilized in vitro have resulted in term embryos or live births which may indicate that mature cyoplasmic components are necessary to produce a sustainable canine embryo.

#### REPRODUCTIVE HORMONE SERUM CONCENTRATIONS IN THE BITCH

Concannon closely examined the reproductive hormone cycles of a colony of female beagles over ten years (3). These studies reported average serum levels of hormones important during phases of the bitch estrous cycle. The ovarian cycle is classified by three phases known as the follicular phase, ovulation and the luteal phase (3). The canine follicular phase can persist for one to three weeks and is associated with release of the anterior pituitary hormone FSH which stimulates follicle growth, resulting in increasing levels of estradiol produced by graulosa cells of the growing follicle. The serum concentration of estradiol increases during the follicular phase of the cycle from basal levels of 2 to 10 pg/ml to the highest serum concentrations of 50 to 120 pg/ml (3). The known affects of estrogen include an increase in length and folding within the uterine horn, stimulation of endometrial hyperplasia, endometrial secretion of proteins, thickening of the vaginal wall, and enlargement of the cervix (3). The bitch's progression from proestrus into estrus is usually noted by receptivity to the male, or standing for copulation. Plasma estradiol 17-ß levels rise during proestrus and decline during sexual receptivity (3). During the proestrus follicular phase, the bitch is usually not receptive to mounting behavior by male dogs.

As serum concentrations of LH increase from basal plasma concentrations ranging from 21 to 156 ng/ml, estradiol levels begin to decrease, LH surges (mean plasma concentration of 402 ng/ml) during late proestrus or early estrus, causing ovulation and commences the start of the luteal phase of the cycle (3), Frequently the day of the LH peak can be correlated to the same day or one day after the first time progesterone levels rise above 1.0 ng/ml, compared to 0.4 to 0.6 ng/ml during proestrus, and between 0.8 and 1.2 ng/ml during peak estrogen levels. While progesterone levels increase steadily during the LH surge, serum estrogen levels are simultaneously falling. After the LH peak, basal levels of LH are restored; ovulation in the bitch occurs two days after the LH surge (3). Maximum serum concentrations of FSH are  $297\pm 26$  ng/ml occur the day after serum maximum of

LH. Four to eight days post LH peak, canine serum FSH concentrations decline to below 200 ng/ml (22).

The luteal phase is noted by high levels of progesterone to maintain pregnancy if fertilization does or does not to occur. Hewitt and England 1997 reported serum progesterone levels of 4 to 8 ng/ml two days after the LH surge, on the day of ovulation (8). Post ovulation, serum progesterone levels in the bitch continue to rise reaching a peak of 15-30 ng/ml, occurring 15 to 25 days after the LH peak (3). During the peak of serum progesterone levels, plasma estradiol concentrations have been reported to be in the range of 0.8 to 1.2 ng/ml (3,8).

#### BASIC IN VITRO MATURATION MEDIA

In recent years much attention has been focused on developing a defined media in which to mature canine oocytes in vitro. Assisted reproductive techniques (ART) such as in vitro fertilization (IVF) and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI), have been used successfully in clinical settings for a variety of species. Typically these require the use of an oocyte matured to the metaphase II stage of nuclear development. Local veterinary clinics performing routine spay surgeries provide a ready supply of canine ovaries from bitches of all ages, breeds and in all stages of the estrous cycle. Immature oocytes to be used for experiments were obtained by slicing ovaries removed from bitches during routine ovariohysterectomy (1). Developing a defined media in which to in vitro culture these oocytes to mature them to the MII stage before being introduced to sperm should logically increase success rates of obtaining multicellular embryos for embryo transfer. Advanced nuclear maturation at the time of sperm/oocyte interaction may be necessary to produce an in vitro fertilized canine oocyte capable of development to the morula or blastocyst stage to be used for embryo transfer to a primed canine uterus. The only in vitro fertilized canine pregnancy, reported by England et al 2001, utilized oocytes obtained from a bitch in estrus (7).

Many in vitro maturation (IVM) medias developed for use in other species contain 10% or 20% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS). Generally, researchers strive to use completely defined medias to assure that conditions can be repeated exactly, this discourages the use of a serum supplemented media . Supplementing IVM medias with serum collected from a female of the specific species while in estrus often enhances in vitro oocyte nuclear maturation. In the horse, a tissue culture media (TCM) 199 supplemented with 15% serum collected from a mare on her day of ovulation, has been shown to mature oocytes that were 80% GV at time 0, to 47% MII after 15 hours of in vitro culture (27). Personal communications with Fulton indicate obtaining 36% of canine oocytes reaching MII when in vitro matured for 72 hours in an TCM-199 plus 20% estrous bitch serum media (personal communications, Fulton, 1998). The goal of developing a completely defined media discourages the use of culture media supplemented with estrus serum due to variability between females even within the same species.

For serum supplementation experiments conducted by Hewitt and England, their basic culture media contained the following: Modified Hepes buffered TCM-199 (containing 100 IU/ml penicillin, 50  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin, and 2 mg/ml sodium bicarbonate) supplemented with either 5, 10 or 20% FBS, or 0.3 or 0.4% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (fraction V, Sigma) (11). Control oocytes were treated without FBS or BSA. Oocytes were obtained from ovaries in various stages of the estrous cycle (routine spays), and were cultured in the various test medias for 0, 48 and 96 hours at 39°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> (14).

Hewitt reported media supplemented with BSA as preferable for in vitro culture of canine oocytes in comparison to FBS supplements which resulted in significantly large numbers of canine oocytes with unidentifiable nuclear matter (14). In this study, the highest percentage of oocytes maturing to the MI/AI/MII stage was 36% (12 out of 33); these oocytes were treated with the basic culture media supplemented with 0.3% BSA for 48 hours (14).

#### IVM MEDIAS SUPPLEMENTED WITH HORMONES

Success rates associated with in vitro maturation of oocytes and the development of IVF embryos for many species have been greatly improved by the addition of various hormones to IVM medias. Zuelke and Brackett examined the effect of LH supplemented media for maturing bovine oocytes in vitro. Immature bovine oocytes were treated with a modified TCM-199 supplemented with  $10 \ \mu g/ml$ ,  $50 \ \mu g/ml$  or  $100 \ \mu g/ml$  of LH (29). Oocytes were incubated in one of the three IVM test media for 24 hours, followed by fertilization by co-incubation with sperm for 24 hours. After sperm co-incubation, the oocytes were cultured on cumulus cell monolayers; embryos were assessed for development eight days post insemination. Control oocytes were treated in the same manner using an IVM media containing no LH supplement. In vitro maturation media supplemented with LH improved bovine embryonic development, "embryonic viability (reaching blastocyst after 8 days post insemination) improved significantly after IVM with either 50 \mu g LH/ml (27%) or 100 \mu g LH/ml (28.3%) versus TCM-199 alone (9.9%) or 10 \mu g LH/ml (10.8%)" (29).

Experiments reported by Hewitt and England compared maturation rates of canine oocytes obtained from bitches at various stages of the estrous cycle cultured Hewitt and England basic culture media supplemented with 1µg/ml LH, 1µg/ml FSH, or 1µg/ml LH along with 1µg/ml FSH (13). Control oocytes were treated with Hewitt and England's basic culture media containing 0.3% BSA with no gonadotropin supplements (13). Oocytes were cultured in the various test media for 48 and 96 hours and showed no significant difference in percentage of canine oocytes to mature to GVBD or MI/AI/MII between any of the treatment groups (13). Two treatment groups from the 48 hour incubation trial contained oocytes matured to MI/AI/MII; these were 2 out of 25 (8%) for the LH group and 1 out of 34 (3%) for the LH in combination with FSH group (13). For the 96 hour culture trials, 3 oocytes out of 25 (12%) from the FSH supplemented group matured to MI/AI/MII (13). For this experiment, the effect of only one concentration of each gonadotropin was

examined while in vivo, oocytes are exposed to multiple gonadotropins in conjunction with steroid hormones at varying concentrations (13).

Hewitt and England examined the role of steroid hormones on canine oocyte IVM by culturing oocytes from late luteal or anestrus bitches in Hewitt and England basic culture media containing 0.3% BSA supplemented with 1µg/ml estradiol, 1µg/ml progesterone, or 1µg/ml estradiol along with 1µg/ml progesterone. Oocytes were cultured at 39°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 48 and 96 hours. Control oocytes were treated in the same manner but with no steroid hormone supplements. The most successful group- 20% of the oocytes to reach MI/AI/MII- was the group cultured for 48 hours in IVM supplemented with a combination of estradiol and progesterone. These findings were not statistically significant; no significant difference was recorded for oocytes reaching MI/AI/MII between varying IVM time lengths and hormones used as a supplement. The published results for this experiments gives only percentages, not numerical data. It should be noted that an average of only 28 oocytes were used per trial and only one concentration of the hormones was evaluated.

Durrant examined the effect of an IVM containing both a gonadotropin and steroid hormone on maturation of canine oocytes obtained from advanced preantral and early antral follicles (6). The IVM media consists of the following: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) nutrient mixture F-12 Ham culture medium supplemented with 20% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1% antibiotic-antimycotic, 1  $\mu$ g/ml FSH, 10 IU/ml hCG, 1  $\mu$ g/ml estradiol 17- $\beta$ . Oocytes were cultured in the IVM media for 24, 48 or 72 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> (6). As a control, a group of oocytes was stained for nuclear assessment at zero time with no additional incubation.

Durrant reported that the largest group of oocytes to reach MI/AI/MII was 47 oocytes out of 407 (11.5%) for the 48 hour incubation. The 72 hour incubation resulted in 40 out of 404 (9.9%) of the treated oocytes to mature to MI/AI/MII. While large numbers of oocytes were used for this experiment but it would have been beneficial to have included a control

group of oocytes incorporating the same IVM culture periods as treated oocytes but in a non hormone supplemented IVM media.

Further research is needed to assess the effect of various gonadotropin and steroid hormones on IVM of canine oocytes. The development of a reproducible canine IVM and IVF systems will likely involve the use of multiple hormone supplements at various concentrations to more closely mimic the in vivo environment during canine ovulation and fertilization.

#### EXPERIMENTS RESULTING IN VITRO FERTILIZED CANINE EMBRYOS

Yamada et al reported obtaining the following embryos after IVF in his 1992 experiment: 1 eight cell, 2 seven cell, 2 six cell, 1 five cell, 4 four cell, 1 three cell, and 4 two cell embryos. Oocytes and ovaries from fifty-four bitches all treated with the following superovulation regimen were used: 1) estrone (100-400  $\mu$ g/day) injected daily until vaginal discharge was detected; 2) three days after onset of vaginal discharge, eCG (400 IU) and hCG (1000 IU) were injected s.c.; 3) two injections of estradiol (10  $\mu$ g/day), given i.m., 3 days and one injection at 4 days after the eCG and hCG injections; 4) estrus as determined by vaginal cytology and percent of cornification, on the first day of estrus hCG, 1000 IU was injected iv; 5) ovaries were collected 72 to 78 hours after iv hCG. Ovulation occurred in the bitches 72 hours after intravenous hCG injection. After obtaining oocytes from these superovulated dogs, oocytes were placed in a culture media containing 10% FBS. At the end of 72 hours IVM, 31.9% of oocytes had matured to MII.

Sperm solutions were prepared by centrifuging and capacitated with BSA prior to being added to the culture media containing the 72 hour IVM oocytes (28). After co-incubating the oocytes with the capacitated sperm for 18 to 20 hours, COCs were returned to culture for an additional 48 hours. At this time, 14% of the fertilized COCs had developed into embryos at the two to three cell stage. Seventy-two hours post insemination 4.8% (3)

out of 62) of fertilized COCs had resulted in five to eight cell embryos, 29% were two to four cell. Ninety-six hours post insemination 13.3% of fertilized COC had developed beyond the 4 cell embryo stage. No development of blastocysts or morulas occurred.

Hewitt and England have reported development of one two cell embryo obtained during a study of canine oocyte penetration (10). Plasma progesterone levels of experimental dogs were monitored; the first day plasma progesterone levels exceeded 3 ng/ml, ovariohysterectomy was performed (10). Ovaries were sliced to release oocytes into modified M199 and graded on a scale of 1 to 3 with grade 1 being darkly pigmented and completely surrounded by one or more layers of cumulus cells, grade 2 lightly pigmented with incomplete layers of cumulus cells, and grade 3 being degenerate and exhibiting pale color and frequently misshaped and without any cumulus cell attached. The two cell embryo produced and published during this study was a result of IVM in Hewitt culture media (modified M199 with 0.3% BSA) at 39°C for 72 hours, co-incubation for 12 hours with sperm that had been treated with CCM, followed by a final 48 hours of culture for the fertilized oocyte (10). Note that the majority of multi cell embryos containing more than 2 cells reported by Yamada, were seen between 72 and 96 hours post insemination (28). Upon further examination, Hewitt found that 75% of oocytes remaining at GV stage when introduced to sperm were penetrated by the sperm (10). Of oocytes that had resumed or completed nuclear maturation (GVBD, MI, AI, MII), 88% were penetrated by sperm (10). No significant difference between these two numbers leads to Hewitt's conclusions that "the stage of nuclear maturation of the oocyte doesn't affect spermatozoa ability to penetrate the oocyte" (10).

While Hewitt and Yamada both comment that ability of spermatozoa to penetrate canine oocytes has no dependence on nuclear maturation of the oocyte, while these oocytes may not have achieved nuclear maturation during the preinsemenation 48 to 72 hour culture period, other chemical and cytoplasmic changes may have taken place in the oocyte which

may have an affect on its ability to be fertilized and develop into a multicellular embryo. Also it is important to note that oocytes obtained by Yamada and Hewitt were both "primed" in vivo during estrus with removal of ovaries by surgery just hours before ovulation was to naturally occur; oocytes obtained from bitches in various stages of the estrus cycle may not result in effective embryo production.

Using oocytes collected from bitches in various stages of the estrous cycle, Otoi et al reported in 2000 the development of blastocyst. In vitro maturation was performed with COCs being cultured on a feeder layer of bovine cumulus cells in a culture medium in which in vitro fertilized bovine embryos had been cultured for 13 to 14 days (23). Oocytes were cultured for 72 hours at 37.5°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> on the bovine cumulus cells. As a control, a group of COCs were cultured without the bovine cumulus cells. Ejaculate was centrifuged followed by spermatozoa being washed and diluted to a 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> concentration in Brackett-Oliphant medium containing bovine serum albumin (3 mg/ml), heparin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) and caffeine (2.5 mM) (23). After the 72 hours of IVM culture, the COCs were cultured with the sperm suspension for an additional 6 hours. Following co-incubation with sperm, COCs were moved to a feeder layer of bovine cumulus cells for 10 days of culture. At this time, one blastocyst was reported (23).

While live births have resulted from IVF oocytes in the cow, human, mouse, pig, goat, sheep and cat, to date, none have been reported in the dog. The most advanced report of an IVF canine embryo is England's recently published 22 day pregnancy (7). The oocytes resulting in the pregnancy were obtained from research bitches originally in anestrous and treated daily with cabergoline (a prolactin inhibitor that induces estrus) for 12 to 15 days, until the onset of vulva bleeding. At this point, daily vaginal cytology and plasma progesterone levels were recorded. Once plasma progesterone concentrations exceeded 5.0 ng/ml, ovariohysterectomy was performed to obtain oocytes.

After being removed from the ovaries of the research bitches, 169 grade I cumulus oocytes complexes (COCs) (darkly pigmented and completely surrounded by one or more

layers of cumulus cells) were cultured in TCM 199 containing 0.3% BSA for 24 to 78 hours (7). Ejaculate was collected and treated with canine capacitation media and added to the cultured COCs for 12 hours (7, 20). Post sperm incubation, oocytes were cultured for another 48 hours. At this point, two out of 90 oocytes were at the two-cell embryo stage. All 90 embryos were surgically transferred to the uterine lumen of a surrogate bitch whose plasma progesterone was above 5.0 ng/ml. Researchers used laparotomy along with a catheter and sterile glass pipette to place the embryos into the surrogate bitch's uterine lumen. In vivo, embryos descend from the oviduct into the uterine horn at the morula stage of embryo development. The surrogate bitch was administered ampicillin and 30 mg of progesterone in oil at the time of embryo transfer. Ultrasound was performed 20 days post embryo transfer to confirm pregnancy. At this time, one conceptus was in the proximal region of the uterine body and two conceptuses in the left uterine horn. Researchers noted that all three conceptuses were considered to be undersized for their anticipated age. The next ultrasound, at 22 days post embryo transfer, all conceptus were absent. The surrogate bitch's serum levels for progesterone, relaxin and fibrinogen were noted as normal for early pregnancy.

#### EVALUATION OF OOCYTE NUCLEAR MATURATION

Many investigators use an aceto orcein staining dye for nuclear assessment of canine oocytes. To visualize oocytes, cumulus cells must be removed which can be achieved by 20 minutes in a hyaluronidase solution followed by 10 minutes of high vortexing (unpublished Dookwah, Dew and Baracaldo 2000). Oocytes are then mounted on a slide and a coverslip is placed by parafin-vassaline support columns to allow a compression system. The slide is treated with Acetic acid(3): methanol (6): Chloroform (2) for 2-3 minutes (14). A 48 hour treatment of Acetic Acid (1):Methanol (3) is used to aid in clearing the canine oocyte's dense lipid, after which staining is performed with 1% aceto orcein in 45% Acetic Acid,

slides are treated with a 20% glycerol, 20% Acetic Acid, 60% distilled water solution (14).

Fluorescent dyes such as Hoescht 33342 have proven successful for use in nuclear assessment of the canine oocyte. This dye allows for visualization of the nuclear material but does not permit distinction of individual chromosomes like the aceto orcein stain. The benefits of Hoescht 33342 are that it is a much faster staining process (20 minutes) and will not cause cell death as is associated with the aceto orcein. Using a UV lamp on and inverted microscope allows nuclear viewing of oocytes with a Hoescht 33342 stain.

#### DEGENERATE OOCYTES

An alarmingly large percentage (65%) of cultured oocytes which were harvested from canine ovaries removed from the bitch during random phases of the estrous cycle (obtained from local veterinary clinics during routine spays) have been noted to be degenerate (19). Surprisingly, this number decreased only minimally, to 62.6%, when a superovulatory regime of estrone, equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG), human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), and estradiol was given just prior to removing the ovaries and harvesting oocytes (28). Yamada states that "it is unclear whether these arrested oocytes were derived from follicles not destined to ovulate or were due to incomplete culture conditions" (28). Dramatically decreasing the number of degenerate oocytes obtained, or rather increasing the number of viable oocytes harvested will be crucial when using these techniques in future clinical cases.

Hewitt and England reported similar experiences after culturing oocytes from ovaries removed from a dog just hours prior to ovulation versus various times in the estrous cycle (9). Hewitt and England reported examining oocytes obtained from the ovaries of 68 bitches of various breeds, between one and seven years of age, and at various stages of the estrus cycle (9). Fifteen percent (68 out of 462) of grade I COCs examined by Hewitt and England in the 1998 experiment were labeled as non-identifiable nuclear material (9). Hewitt and England propose that the non-identifiable nuclear material oocytes may "reflect a transitory stage in the nuclear maturation cycle or alternatively, it may be that these oocytes were obtained from atretic follicles" (9). They reported no difference in the number of oocytes undergoing nuclear maturation while in in vitro culture from ovaries obtained just prior to natural ovulation compared to ovaries obtained at various stages of the estrous cycle (9). These findings are difficult to compare to Yamada because of Yamada's use of a superovulation regiment on all bitches in the study. No use by Yamada of data collected from nonsuperovulated bitches, as a control, makes it difficult to effectively evaluate superovulation.

#### CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE USES

In 1982, the first live birth of the first cow resulting from IVF was reported (2). Since then, IVF efficiency in the cow has increased dramatically due to the large number of advances in the field. The perfection of an ART system which would enable researchers to produce live birth puppies has definite clinical applications. ICSI is used successfully in the human to produce pregnancies in cases of male orchitis, trauma, testicular degeneration and senility. For cases of very few sperm cells and sperm cells of poor quality (such as oligospermia), with the use of frozen sperm from a deceased stud dog, or in emergency cases of post mortal sperm collection, ICSI is an extremely important tool to produce maximum embryo production efficiency.

In dealing with infertility of the bitch, especially when associated with pyometra, IVF along with embryo transfer involving the use of a surrogate uterus provides potential for future progeny after removal of a bitch's uterus and ovaries. Pyometra results from a uterine infection which can threaten the life of the bitch, all of the uterus must be removed to prevent stump pyometra. Ovaries can possibly be removed from a bitch facing pyometra and cryopreserved for future IVF and embryo transfer. Until further improvement in oocyte cryopreservation, researchers currently recommend that ovaries be left intact to harvest oocytes at a later date for assisted reproduction (personal communication, R. A. Fayrer-Hosken) with entire uterine removal.

ART has already proved successful in producing live young from endangered felids; this same technology may assist reproduction of endangered canids and foxes in the future. These reproductive technologies can help to preserve genetic material, or bring new genes into an area. Embryo transfer would allow a completely unrelated individual to be born into new community, avoiding pack acceptance problems often seen when attempting to introduce a foreign infant or adult, while providing completely new genes into the pack.

The laboratory of Ian Wilmut produced the first live mammalian offspring, the sheep "Dolly", following nuclear transfer from an established cell line in 1996. Cloning, which requires the use of IVM and embryo transfer techniques, could be a helpful tool in genetic research by assisting in the creation a greater numbers of animals affected with certain genetic diseases, creating a population large enough to be effectively studied.

Current ART techniques such as IVF, ICSI, and nuclear transfer require the use of an oocyte at MII. Development of a reliable in vitro system for the maturation of canine oocytes to MII would make the latest in reproductive technology clinically applicable for the dog. Our overall goal is to be able to help caring and concerned dog owners and provide them with alternatives when dealing with the emotional distress of facing infertility in their companion animals.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Austin CR, Short RV. Reproduction in mammals. New York, New York. Cambridge University Press, 1982.
- Brackett BG, Bousquet D, Boice ML, Donawick WJ, Evans JF, Dressel MA. Normal development following in vitro fertilization in the cox. Biol Reprod 1982; 27: 147-158.
- Concannon PW. Canine physiology of reproduction. Philadelphia, Penn. Lea & Febiger, 1986.
- 4. Doak RL, Hall A, Dale HE. Longevity of spermatozoa in the reproductive tract of the bitch. J Reprod Fertil 1967; 13: 51-58.
- 5. Ducibella T. Biochemical and cellular insights into the temporal window of normal fertilization. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 53-65.
- 6. Durrant BS, Pratt NC, Russ KD, Bolamba D. Isolation and characterization of canine advanced preantral and early antral follicles. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 917-932.
- 7. England GC, Verstegen JP, Hewitt DA. Pregnancy following in vitro fertilisation of canine oocytes. Vet Rec 2001; 148: 20-22.
- 8. Hewitt DA, England GC. Effect of preovulatory endocrine events upon maturation of oocytes of domestic bitches. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1997; 51: 83-91.
- 9. Hewitt DA, England GC. Incidence of oocyte nuclear maturation within the ovarian follicle of the bitch. Vet Rec 1998; 143: 590-591.
- 10. Hewitt DA, England GC. The canine oocyte penetration assay; its use as an indicator of dog spermatozoal performance in vitro. Anim Reprod Sci 1998; 50: 123-139.
- 11. Hewitt DA, England GC. The effect of oocyte size and bitch age upon oocyte nuclear maturation in vitro. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 957-966.
- 12. Hewitt DA, England GC. An investigation of capacitation and the acrosome reaction in dog spermatozoa using a dual fluorescent staining technique. Anim Reprod Sci 1998; 51: 321-332.
- 13. Hewitt DA, England GC. Influence of gonadotrophin supplementation on the in vitro maturation of bitch oocytes. Vet Rec 1999; 144: 237-239.
- 14. Hewitt DA, Watson PF, England GC. Nuclear staining and culture requirements for in vitro maturation of domestic bitch oocytes. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 1083-1101.

- 15. Holst PA, Phemister RD. The prenatal development of the dog: preimplantation events. Biol Reprod 1971; 5: 194-206.
- 16. Karp G. Cellular and molecular biology. New York, New York. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1999.
- 17. Kraemer D, Kinney G, Schriver M. Embryo transfer in dogs and cats. Embryo transfer and in vitro fertilization second world conference 1989; 223-233.
- 18. Luvoni GC, Luciano AM, Modina S, Gandolfi F. Influence of different stages of the oestrous cycle on cumulus-oocyte communications in canine oocytes: effects on the efficiency of in vitro maturation. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 2001; 57: 141-146.
- 19. Mahi CA, Yanagimachi R. Maturation and sperm penetration of canine ovarian oocytes in vitro. J Exp Zool 1976; 196: 189-196.
- 20. Mahi CA, Yanagimachi R. Capacitation, acrosome reaction, and egg penetration by canine spermatozoa in a simple defined media. Gam Res 1978; 1: 101-109.
- Nickson DA, Boyd JS, Eckersall PD, Ferguson JM, Harvey MJ, Renton JP. Molecu lar biological methods for monitoring oocyte maturation and in vitro fertilization in bitches. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1993; 47: 231-240.
- 22. Olson PN, Bowen RA, Behrendt MD, Olson JD, Nett TM. Concentrations of repro ductive hormones in canine serum throughout late anestrus, proestrus and estrus. Biol Reprod 1982; 27: 1196-1206.
- 23. Otoi T, Fujii M, Tanaka M, Ooka A, Suzuki T. Oocyte diameter in relation to meiotic competence and sperm penetration. Theriogenology 2000; 54: 535-542.
- 24. Phillips DM, Dekel N. Maturation of the rat cumulus-oocyte complex: structure and function. Mol Reprod Dev 1991; 28: 297-306.
- 25. Tsutsui T. Gamete physiology and timing of ovulation and fertilization in dogs. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1989; 39: 269-275.
- 26. Van Der Stricht O. Etude comparee des ovules des mammiferes aux differentes periodes do l'ovogenese, d'apres les travaux du laboratoire d'histologie et d'embryologie de l'universite de gand. Archives biologie 1923; 33: 229-300.
- 27. Willis P, Caudle AB, Fayrer-Hosken RA. Fine structure of equine oocytes matured in vitro for 15 hours. Mol Reprod Dev 1994; 37: 87-92.

- Yamada S, Shimazu Y, Kawaji H, Nakazawa M, Naito KToyoda Y. Maturation, fertilization, and development of dog oocytes in vitro. Biol Reprod 1992; 46: 853-858.
- Zuelke KABrackett BG. Luteinizing hormone-enhanced in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes with and without protein supplementation. Biol Reprod 1990; 43: 784-787.

# CHAPTER II

# THE EFFECTS OF PROGESTERONE, ESTRADIOL, rFSH, eCG, L-CYSTEINE AND ARACHIDONIC ACID ON CANINE OOCYTE IVM

Dew E.V., H. Dookwah, and R.A. Fayrer-Hosken. To be submitted to Theriogenology.

#### ABSTRACT

Assisted reproduction technologies (ART) has been successfully applied to species including man. These techniques are still to be refined for clinical application in canines. The need for ART include the conservation of genetic material of endangered animals as well as therapies for treatment of canine infertility. Success of canine in vitro embryo production has been extremely limited; there has been one report of a canine pregnancy from IVF, however, this has not resulted in term pregnancies or births of live puppies. Unlike other mammals, the dog ovulates a primary oocyte, which requires further maturation to metaphase II (MII) within the oviduct. Medias supplemented with steroid hormones, gonadotropins, antioxidants and fatty acids have enhanced oocyte IVM rates for a variety of species. Our objective was to examine more fully the role of estradiol, progesterone, FSH, eCG, LH, L-cysteine and arachidonic acid on in vitro maturation of canine oocytes and to develop a reproducible in vitro maturation technique for canine oocytes. Oocytes harvested from bitches undergoing routine ovariohysterectomy were cultured in a basic culture medium with or without supplementation. For experiments examining the effects of estradiol, progesterone, FSH and eCG, oocytes were cultured with one of three concentrations of the hormone or no hormone supplement over 24, 48, 72 or 96 hours. To examine the effect of rFSH, oocytes cultured in media supplemented with 0.1 IU/ml, 1.0 IU/ml, or 10.0 IU/ml of rFSH or no hormone supplement over 24, 48, 72 or 96 hours were examined. For experiment examining the effects of LH, oocytes were cultured with one of two concentrations of the gonadotropin or the control treatment for 96 hours. For experiments examining the antioxidant L-cysteine or fatty acid arachidonic acid, two concentrations were compared to the control treatment over 72 hours of culture. After culture, oocytes were stained with Hoechst 33342 and classified into one of the following five stages of nuclear maturation: germinal vesicle (GV, tight compact nucleus), germinal vesicle break down (GVBD, nucleus less compact), metaphase I/anaphase I (MI/AI, presence of a

metaphase plate/ chromatids separating), metaphase II (MII, extrusion of a polar body) or unidentifiable (U, unclassifiable nuclear material).

A total of 8,536 canine ooyctes were cultured and examined during this study. The maturation rates of oocytes cultured in any of the rFSH treatments was statistical significant (p<0.05) compared to the control treatment although the effect of concentration of rFSH was not shown to be significant. The oocytes cultured for 96 hours in a rFSH supplemented media were significantly more likely to mature to MII than the control group. Medias supplemented with estradiol, progesterone, FSH, eCG, LH, L-cysteine and arachidonic acid did not significantly effect mature rates for canine oocytes when compared to the control treatment.

#### INTRODUCTION

Assisted reproductive technologies (ART) have been well developed for a variety of species including man. ART techniques, using a mature MII oocyte, such as in vitro fertilization (IVF) and intra cytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) have resulted in healthy live offspring for many species allowing this technology to be used regularly in clinical settings. The success of canine in vitro embryo production has been extremely limited, there has been one report of a canine pregnancy from in vitro fertilization but no pregnancies to term or births have been reported (8). Interest in improving assisted reproduction technologies (ART) for the dog has increased particularly in relation to potential application to salvage endangered species and cloning (9,10,23).

The use of ART and cloning techniques developed for other species utilize a mature MII oocyte. Typically, all preovulatory oocytes obtained for culture studies are meiotically immature. In vitro maturation protocols for many species such as the bovine have been very successful resulting in 80-90% of oocytes reaching MII within 72 hours (22). In contrast,

canine oocytes achieving full nuclear meiotic maturation in in vitro culture systems range from 0 to 39% (2,7,15,16,17,27,31,43).

Development of an in vitro system to mature and fertilize canine oocytes has many obstacles which have been resolved for other species (9). These differences may be related to the fact that most mammals ovulate metaphase II oocytes ready for fertilization while the dog ovulates an immature oocyte at the germinal vesicle (GV) stage (18,27,43,44). The canine oocyte resumes meiotic division within the oviduct over 2-5 days post ovulation (18,23,41). This physiologic difference between the dog and other mammals may be an important consideration in the development of an in vitro maturation and fertilization system.

The ovarian cycle is calssified into three phases known as the follicular, ovulation and luteal phases. The follicular phase of the ovarian cycle is associated with an increasing serum concentration of the steroid hormone estradiol, which begins to decline as concentrations of luteinizing hormone increase. The release of the gonadotropin LH from the anterior pituitary, is associated with changes that take place within the follicle including resumption of meiosis for most mammallian oocytes (12). Progression from the follicular into the luteal phase of the bitch's cycle occurs during the LH surge which takes place during late proestrus or early estrus (5). Serum concentrations of the steroid hormone progesterone begin to rise as LH reaches its peak; from 0.8-1.2 ng/ml during peak estrogen levels to 2-3 ng/ml at the time of the luteinizing hormone (LH) peak (5). Ovulation of the canine oocyte occurs 1.5 to 2 days after the LH peak, when serum progesterone levels are as high as 3-8 ng/ml (5). In vivo, the oocyte passes from the ovary into the oviduct after ovulation and once in the oviduct, the oocyte will mature to MII over the next 2 to 5 days while serum concentrations of progesterone increase and reach a peak of 15-80 ng/ml between 15 and 25 days after the LH peak (5,8,23,41).

The luteal phase of the cycle, which occurs after ovulation, is noted by high levels of progesterone to maintain pregnancy if fertilization were to occur (5, 33). In contrast to

most species, luteinization of the bitch's ovarian follicle begins prior to ovulation. It has been hypothesized that this is related to the long interval between the LH surge and ovulation (32). LH, along with prolactin, plays a role in maintaining the corpus luteum and progesterone production throughout pregnancy (32). LH receptors remain on the surface of the canine corpora lutea in constant concentration throughout the estrous cycle (32).

Canine oocytes have been cultured in medias containing  $1.0 \,\mu$ g/ml of estradiol,  $1.0 \,\mu$ g/ml progesterone, both steroid hormones in combination or no supplement (13). An average of 33 oocytes per treatment group were cultured for 48 or 96 hours. There was no statistical difference for oocytes maturing to MI/AI/MII between oocytes treated with estratiol, progesterone, both steroid hormones or no supplement (13). Bolamba reported canine oocyte IVM using a basic media supplemented with gonadotropins and estradiol over 24, 48 and 72 hours of culture (2). For oocytes cultured for 24 hours, 20 out of 374 (5.3%), for the 48 hours culture group, 47 oocytes out of 407 (11.5%), and for the 72 hours culture group, 40 out of 404 (9.9%) matured to MI/AI/MII which was significantly more MI/AI/MII oocytes than oocytes that were not cultured (2).

In 1990, Zuelke and Brackett examined the effect of LH supplemented medias on the nuclear maturation of bovine oocytes in vitro. In vitro maturation media supplemented with LH aided bovine embryonic development: "embryonic viability (reaching blastocyst after 8 days post insemination) improved significantly after IVM with either 50 µg LH/ml (27%) or 100 µg LH/ml (28.3%) versus TCM-199 alone (9.9%) or 10 µg LH/ml (10.8%)" (48). A similar finding was reported by Younis et al in 1989. The addition of LH to oocyte maturation media containing estradiol greatly enhanced development of four and eight cell embryos in vitro produced from matured bovine embryos (46).

Hewitt and England enhanced maturation rates of canine oocytes cultured in media supplemented with LH alone and to oocytes cultured in media containing LH along with FSH. Their results showed no significant difference in percentage of canine oocytes maturing to GVBD or MI/AI/MII in any of the treatment groups (16). Only one concentration of each gonadotropin was examined. In vivo, oocytes are exposed to multiple gonadotropins in conjunction with steroid hormones at varying concentrations (16). Studies examining the effect of an LH supplemented media on in vitro maturation of domestic cat oocytes reported a significantly greater percentage of oocytes cultured with gonadotropins matured to MII when compared to a control (38). A significantly greater percentage (31%) of oocytes cultured in media containing FSH and LH matured to MII compared to 20% of the oocytes treated with media containing no hormone supplement (38).

LH has been shown to disrupt gap junctions existing between cumulus cells and oocytes in the fox (19). Two to three days after the LH peak, when metaphase I was reached, junctions which were present between cumulus cell projections and the oocyte before, had become disrupted. Krogenaes et al reported that viable and differentiated cumulus cells were needed for the resumption of meiosis for cultured fox oocytes (21).

Serum concentration of the gonadotropin follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) for bitches in anestrus remains relatively constant with a range of 240- 294 ng/ml (33). During proestrus, serum concentration of FSH declines, but rises one or two days after the LH peak to levels similar to those seen during anestrus. For the remainder of estrus, the serum concentration of FSH declines; with the mean value during late estrus being less than 200 ng/ml (33). In other species such as the goat, immature oocytes have been successfully matured in media containing FSH, fertilized in vitro, and have resulted in term embryos and live births (8,47). Hewitt and England cultured canine oocytes in media supplemented with 1  $\mu$ g/ml LH, 1  $\mu$ g/ ml FSH, or 1  $\mu$ g/ml LH and 1  $\mu$ g/ml FSH over 48 and 96 hours (16). Oocytes categorized as MI/AI/MII resulted from the 48 hour LH treatment (2/25), the 96 hour FSH treatment (3/ 25) and the 48 hour LH and FSH treatment (1/34) although there was no statistically significant difference between the control and treatment groups (16).

Blue Fox oocytes cultured in the presence of FSH showed an increased percentage of maturation to MII when compared to oocytes cultured without FSH (21). Significantly

more oocytes cultured for 48 and 72 hours in media supplemented with 2.5  $\mu$ g/ml FSH matured to MII (11%, and 21% respectively) than oocytes cultured in control media for 48 hours (2%) and 72 hours (11%). Culture lengths of 24 and 96 hours in this study did not produce significantly more MII oocytes than control groups.

During maturation and fertilizaton, the mammalian oocyte is exposed to various gonadotropins within the ovary and the oviduct. In the pregnant mare, eCG is produced by the endometrial cups which start to develop on day 36 of pregnancy. This gonadotropin is comprised of an a and ß subunit protein. In vitro, eCG has been attributed to stimulating progesterone production through the primary and secondary corpora lutea (40). eCG has also been noted as having both LH and FSH activities in gonadal tissue of the rat, mouse, pig and cow (40). Equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG) has been used successfully in a number of species to induce estrus (42). Anestrus bitches treated with an intramuscular injection of eCG (20 IU/kg) daily for five consecutive days (referred to as days one through five) followed by one 500 IU intramuscular injection of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) came into heat by days nine to fifteen (42). Oocytes obtained from cows prestimulated with eCG 24 hours before slaughter, have been successfully matured and fertilized in vitro, resulting in live births (34).

In vitro production of embryos developing up to the eight cell stage has been reported in conjunction with the use of in vivo superovulation regimen that included estrone injections prior to harvesting oocytes (43). Hewitt and England reported a two cell embryo produced by IVF of oocytes retrieved from spay surgery on a bitch whose plasma progesterone levels had exceeded 3 ng/ml (14). In vitro fertilized oocytes resulting in the pregnancy recently reported by England et al, were retrieved from bitches with plasma progesterone concentrations exceeding 5.0 ng/ml within a 36 hr period (8).

Another concern when developing IVM and IVF systems involves free radical reactions. During metabolism, free radicals and reactive oxygen intermediates such as peroxides are formed. Free radical reactions are known to cause inactivation of enzymes and alteration of membranes and DNA (47). The tripeptide glutathione (gammaglutamylcysteinylglycine; GSH) is the "major nonprotein sulphydryl compound in mammalian cells"; it plays a role in protecting cells against the effects of free radicals and reactive oxygen intermediates (6,29). The many reported actions of GSH include, reduction of disulfide bonds and effects on DNA synthesis, protein synthesis, and amino acid transport (6). Another activity of GSH involves breaking down disulfide bonds, thought to play a role in decondensation of sperm heads just after fertilization (36). For the mouse and hamster, GSH synthesis must occur during oocyte maturation for later sperm chromatin decondensation and male pronucleus formation within oocytes after sperm penetration (3,35,36). Mature metaphase II hamster oocytes exhibit significantly higher levels of GSH (8mM) than germinal vesicle (4mM) or pronuclear (6mM) oocytes (36). Researchers in the field have hypothesized that the "addition of substances that stimulate endogenous systems of cell defense for reducing free radical levels, could be advisable for the establishment of a suitable culture system"; and potentially aid with in vitro maturation of oocytes (25).

Production of GSH occurring during oocyte IVM is reported for many different species including mouse (3), hamster (36), pig (45), and cow (6). Investigators examining the role of GSH on IVM and IVF of porcine oocytes compared oocytes cultured with buthionine sulfoximine (BSO), a specific inhibitor of GSH synthesis, to a control group of cultured oocytes (45). Oocytes matured in vitro in a BSO supplemented media exhibited substantially lower levels of GSH production compared to control oocytes indicating that GSH production occurs throughout pig oocyte maturation in vitro (45). There was no difference in the rate of cumulus mass expansion before insemination or rates of nuclear maturation and sperm penetration after in vitro insemination when BSO cultured oocytes were compared to controls (45).

Reports from Yoshida's 1993 experiments with pig oocytes showed that the presence of decondensed sperm heads and male pronucleus formation was significantly higher for oocytes in the control group compared with those treated with BSO throughout culture or within 12 hours of the start of culture (45). This indicates that oocytes in vitro matured early in the presence of BSO, causing lower levels of GSH synthesis compared to controls, lack sufficient agents to reduce sperm heads later during fertilization (45). These investigators concluded that GSH synthesis occurs throughout in vitro maturation of pig oocytes but is especially important during initial and mid phases of in vitro oocyte maturation to act, following sperm penetration, as a cytoplasmic factor playing a role in regulation of sperm nuclear decondensation and male pronucleus formation (45).

Similar findings have been reported for mouse oocytes. Mouse oocytes cultured in a BSO supplemented media contained 10% less intracellular GSH than control oocytes (3). Mouse oocytes cultured in the BSO and fertilized in vitro resulted in abnormal one cell embryos noted by the female pronucleus coexisting with an unchanged sperm nucleus. This indicates that adequate intracellular GSH levels are necessary for "initiating transformation of the fertilizing sperm nucleus" (3).

GSH synthesis has been shown to require only a media containing cysteine (29). Pope et al reported that the development of cat oocytes matured and fertilized in vitro is enhanced by maturation media containing 0.1 mg/ml of cysteine along with culture in a reduced  $O_2$ atmosphere (37). Luvoni and Colombo 1995 also reported maturation rates were significantly increased for feline oocytes cultured in a maturation media containing 0.1mM of Lcysteine (24). Feline oocytes cultured in the presence of L-cysteine resulted in intracellular GSH levels significantly higher than oocytes cultured without L-cysteine (26). De Matos et al. in 1995 reported blastocyst development was significantly higher for bovine oocytes matured in media containing 100  $\mu$ M of cysteamine compared to oocytes cultured in media containing no cysteamine (6). Cysteamine acts by reducing cystine to cysteine and promoting the uptake of cysteine which enhances production of GSH (6).

Recent reports indicate that embryos matured and fertilized in vitro have lower lipid contents than those fertilized in vivo, "bovine in vivo produced embryos contain much more triglycerides and less lipids from other classes than in vitro embryos" (1). Radio labeled [3H] oleic acid was used in these studies. Investigators examining other species have reported that a large amount of the total lipid present in oocytes is in the form of tryglycerides; "the pig oocyte contains 75 ng triglycerides of a total lipid content of 156 ng, which also includes phospholipids, cholsterolesters and free fatty acids" (28).

Studies using microinjection of Xenopus oocytes with three phospholipases which act on phospholipids, showed an inductive effect on oocyte maturation. This effect is the result of an increase in production of second messengers including lysohospholipids, arachidonic acid, diacylglycerol and phoshatidic acid (4). Microinjection of "phosphatidylcholine-hydrolyzing phospholipase C" in Xenopus laevis oocytes has also been shown to induce maturation (11). One related study that used a culture system instead of microinjection is reported by Sorbera et al (39). This group stated that free arachidonic acid placed in the maturation media during culture "induced maturation in a dose and time dependant manner" for european Sea Bass (*dicentrchus laabrax*) oocytes (39). The optimal dosage of arachidonic acid to oocytes in culture was shown to be 100  $\mu$ M (39).

We are interested in developing an in vitro model for which oocytes at various ages of the estrus cycle, from bitches of various age and breed, can be reliably matured to MII. An effective culture system should provide an environment resembling that of in vivo conditions. Our objective was to examine more fully the efficiency of an in vitro maturation (IVM) media supplemented with progesterone, estradiol, rFSH, eCG, LH, L-cysteine or arachidonic acid on in vitro maturation of canine oocytes over varying culture periods. The effect of supplemented media on maturation of canine oocytes was compared to that of nonsupplemented IVM media cultured over the same lengths of time.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Oocyte Collection**

Canine reproductive tracts were collected from bitches of various age and breed via routine ovariohysterectomies performed at local veterinary clinics. Tracts were placed in a Transport Media (DMEM, 1% Penicillin Streptomycin, 0.1% Fungizone) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) maintained at 38.8°C. Tracts were brought to the laboratory within 4 hours of surgery. Ovaries were removed from the reproductive tracts and washed twice in Transport Media. The ovaries were sliced in Transport Media using a sterile blade to release oocytes. Grade I oocytes as described by Hewitt et al 1998 (darkly pigmented and completely surrounded by one or more layers of cumulus cells) were selected for culture (17).

Experiment 1: progesterone or estrogen oocyte culture

Groups of 30 to 50 grade I oocytes were cultured in 1.5 ml of Basic Culture media. Basic culture media is composed of TCM 199 without phenol red (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and 100 IU/ml Penicillin (Gibco, Grand Island, NY), 50  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin (Gibco), 10 ml/L Na Pyruvate (Gibco), 3 g/L BSA (Fraction V, Fatty acid free Sigma), 5.8 g/L Hepes (Sigma), 100 ml/L L-glutamaine (Sigma). Progesterone (Sigma) or estradiol (Sigma) was added directly to the culture dish containing oocytes to obtain a final concentration of 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, 1.0  $\mu$ g/ml or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml. Cultures were incubated at 38.8°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24, 48, 72 or 96 hours. After each 24 hour period, one ml of the culture media was removed and immediately replaced with fresh, warmed media with or without hormone supplement. Control oocytes with no hormone supplement were cultured for the same length of time as being examined. Experiment two followed the same design as experiment one. Treatment groups were supplemented with recombinant FSH (Serono, Randolph, MA) to reach a final concentration of 0.1 IU/ml, 1.0 IU/ml or 10.0 IU/ml. A control group of oocytes receiving no hormone supplement was cultured for the same length of time as that being examined.

# Experiment 3: eCG oocyte Culture

Experiment three followed the same design as experiment one. Treatment groups were supplemented with eCG (Diosynth, Chicago) to obtain a final concentration of 0.1 IU/ ml, 1.0 IU/ml or 10.0 IU/ml. Cultures were incubated at  $38.8^{\circ}$ C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24, 48, 72 or 96 hours. Oocytes with no hormone supplement were cultured for the same length of time as being examined, to serve as a control.

## Experiment 4: LH oocyte Culture

For experiment four we had a limited supply of ovine LH, so groups of 25-30 oocytes were cultured in 50  $\mu$ l droplets of IVM supplemented with ovine LH (provided by National Hormone and Pituitary Program) to reach final concentrations of 0.1 IU/ml or 1.0 IU/ml. The media droplets were submerged in embryo tested mineral oil (Sigma). A control group of oocytes receiving no hormone supplement was cultured for the same length of time as that being examined. Cultures were incubated at 38.8°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 96 hours. After each 24 hour period, oocytes were moved to new media droplets containing fresh media with or withour LH supplement.

Experiment 5: L-cysteine oocyte culture

Experiment five followed the same design as experiment one except treatment groups were supplemented with L- Cysteine (Sigma) to obtain a final concentration of at 0.1 mM/ml or 1.0 mM/ml. Cultures were incubated at  $38.8^{\circ}$ C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 72 hours. After each 24 hour period, 1.0 ml of the culture media was removed and immediately replaced with fresh, warmed media or media containing L-Cysteine supplement.

#### Experiment 6: Arachidonic acid

Experiment six followed the same design as experiment one except treatment groups were supplemented with arachidonic acid to obtain a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M/ml or 100  $\mu$ M/ml. Cultures were incubated at 38.8°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 72 hours.

## Assessment of Nuclear Maturation

Meiotic maturation was assessed by staining cultured oocytes with the fluorescent dye Hoechst 33342 (Sigma). Prior to staining, removal of cumulus cells to enhance viewing of the oocytes was done by placing oocytes post culture in 1.0 ml of a hyaluronidase solution (500,000 U/L, Specialty Media, Phillipsburg, NJ) for 20 minutes at 38.8°C followed by vortexing on high for 15 minutes. Oocytes were then stained with Hoechst 33342 (Sigma) for 20 minutes and viewed on an inverted microscope equipped with micromanipulators and a fluorescent light source. Stained oocytes were classified as either germinal vesicle (GV) (tight compact nucleus), germinal vesicle break down (GVBD) (nucleus less compact), metaphase I/anaphase I (MI/AI) (presence of a metaphase plate/chromatids separating), metaphase II (MII) (extrusion of a polar body) or unidentifiable (U) (unclassifiable nuclear material). For all experiments, the various treatments were analyzed and compared to a group cultured in media with no hormone supplement. Statistical analysis was performed by using a multinomial regression model fitted for the data set. The four levels of response were GV, GVBD, MI/AI, MII. SAS procedure Proc Genmode was used to carry out the data analysis. The various treatments were analyzed and compared to a group cultured in media with no hormone supplement. Data was analyzed by proportional odds model using SAS procedure Proc Logistic and Chi-square test.

## RESULTS

Experiment 1: Progesterone or estradiol

For Experiment one, a total of 3,421 oocytes were cultured, stained and classified. Classification of oocytes for each culture period and treatment is reported in tables 1 through 4.

There was no effect (p>0.05) of treatment, culture time, or treatment and culture time interaction. While MII was the classification of greatest interest, very few of the treatments resulted in MII oocytes. The highest rate of maturation to MII was 5/115 (4.35%) from the 96 hour culture control treatment. The 96 hour culture control treatment also resulted in the highest percentage of MI/AI, 19/115 (16.52%).

Data for experiment two is exhibited in tables five through eight and a total of 1,787 oocytes were cultured. Oocytes cultured in the presence of rFSH were significantly (p<.05) more likely to mature to metaphase II than oocytes in the control treatment. The highest rate of maturation to MII was 5/113 (4.42%) from the 96 hour culture 1.0 IU/ml rFSH treatment, although the 0.1 IU/ml rFSH and control treatments also resulted in MII oocytes. While statistical significance was found in the length of culture time (p<0.05), with 96 hours being the most likely group to extrude a polar body, no statistical significance was found between the varying concentrations of rFSH examined for this study.

Experiment 3: eCG

A total of 1,384 oocytes were cultured for experiment three(tables nine through twelve). The control treatment was shown to have a significantly (p<0.05) greater effect of maturing oocytes to MII when compared to oocytes treated in any of the three concentration of eCG for all of the culture periods. The various concentrations of eCG tested and the culture lengths examined were not statistically significant.

## Experiment 4: LH

A total of 426 oocytes were cultured for experiment four (table thirteen). The difference between maturation of LH treated oocytes when compared to nuclear maturation of oocytes cultured without the presence of LH (controls) was noted to be insignificant (p >0.05). No significant nuclear maturation difference (p > 0.05) was noted between oocytes cultured in the two concentrations of LH. A total of 1,096 oocytes were cultured for experiment five (table fourteen). Maturation of oocytes tested in all of the L-cysteine supplemented groups was not statistically significant (p>0.05) when compared to oocytes cultured in the control media containing no L-cysteine supplement (p=.29). The 0.1 mM/ml concentration of L-cysteine resulted in the largest percentage of MI/AI oocytes (2.78%) and MII oocytes (1.85%) of any group including the control group. None of the oocytes treated with the 1.0  $\mu$ g/ml concentration of Lcysteine resulted in MII oocytes.

Experiment 6: Arachidonic acid

A total of 422 oocytes were cultured for experiment six (table fifteen). Only the control treatment resulted in MII oocytes. The control treatment was significantly more likely (p<0.05) to result in MI/AI oocytes when compared to the 10  $\mu$ M/ml arachidonic acid treatment. There was no statistical significance noted between the control treatment and the 100  $\mu$ M/ml arachidonic acid treatment when considering likelihood of oocytes maturing to MI/ AI.

## DISCUSSION

Our objective was to examine the affect of estradiol, progesterone, rFSH, eCG, LH, Lcysteine and arachidonic acid at varying concentrations and hours of culture on the nuclear maturation of canine oocytes.

Experiment one indicated that single hormone supplementation of progesterone and estradiol is not effective for in vitro maturation of canine oocytes. Advanced stages of meiotic maturation, MI/AI and MII, were most likely when oocytes were cultured in vitro

with no progesterone or estradiol supplement. Similar reports by Hewitt and England found no significant difference between in vitro maturation for 48 and 96 hours in a control media and media supplemented with estradiol, progesterone or the two steroid hormones in combination (13).

Experiment two indicated that rFSH supplemented media benefits canine oocytes cultured for 96 hours. For the three concentrations of rFSH examined, no single concentration was found more likely to mature oocyte to MII. This contradicts studies reported by Hewitt and England (16). While they reported 12% (3/25) of oocytes cultured in 1  $\mu$ g/ml of FSH matured to MI/AI/MII after 96 hours of culture, there was no significant difference between the FSH treatment and the control oocytes.

In experiment three the control treatment was statistically more likely to mature oocytes to MII when compared to either of the eCG treatments. Although this equine hormone is commercially available, it is not likely to be identical any hormone produced by the bitch during estrus and therefore might not be recognized by receptors in the bitch. Similarily, for experiment four we choose to use ovine LH because of its availability as our gonadotropin source. The ovine LH may not have been fully recognized by LH receptors on the canine oocyte therefore not eliciting typical in vivo effects.

While hormone supplementation in vitro has had beneficial effects on oocyte maturation with other species when compared to in vitro culture with no hormone supplements, there are many issues to consider (20,30). One consideration involves the concentration of the hormones used. While serum hormone levels have been reported, the exact hormone concentrations within the oviduct, where the canine oocyte matures to MII, are unknown. In vivo, serum concentration of steroid hormones and gonadotropins fluctuate over time, levels do not remain static as seen in these in vitro studies. Studies using sequential increase and or decrease of a hormone's concentration may provide more information relative to the in vivo situation. Additionally, in vivo, oocytes are exposed to gonadotropins in conjunction with steroid hormones. For these experiments, we choose to examine the effect of a single gonadotropin or steriod hormone alone although this does not truly mimic the in vivo environment. Future studies incorporating steroid hormones along with endogenous gonadotropins and changes in concentration over time, may improve maturation of canine oocytes in vitro.

Although the L-cysteine treatment groups were not significantly different from the control group for experiment five, it is interesting to note that the 0.1 mM/ml resulted in higher percentages of all four response levels (GV. GVBD, MI/AI, MII) than the control group after 72 hours of culture. It is possible that response of oocytes in this treatment may increase to significant levels if oocytes were examined after 96 hours of culture.

Experiment five did not show L-cysteine supplementation to be beneficial for maturing canine oocytes in vitro. Very little has been reported regarding possible transport mechanisms of cysteine and GSH within the canine oocyte. A lack of gap junctions between the oocyte and cumulus cells may cause disruption in the normal transport of L-cysteine across cell membranes therefore limiting its actions. Our lab did not have the means to measure actual GSH content of the canine oocytes treated in the media containing L-cysteine. This information would be helpful in future experiments to assess the ability of L-cysteine in media to effectively elevate GSH levels in the canine oocyte in vitro.

In contrast to our results, Luvoni et al. 2001 report concluded that "intracellular GSH synthesis can be effectively increased by cysteine-containing media for in vitro maturation of feline oocytes" (26). For their experiment, oocytes were cultured in an IVM media containing 0.5 IU/ml FSH and 0.5 IU/ml LH supplemented with L-cysteine (26). There have been no studies done to test the effects of the FSH and LH alone on GSH production in feline oocytes. Experiment two showed that canine oocytes in vitro matured for 96 hours in basic media containing 1.0 IU/ml FSH, resulted in more advanced stages of nuclear development compared to control oocytes.

In our experiment we did not introduce sperm to the oocyte in culture. L-cysteine has been shown to have a substantial role in decondensation of the sperm head post fertilization (45). While very little is known concerning GSH production in the canine oocyte matured in vitro at this time, and although no significance was noted in this trial, L-cysteine supplementation in culture of canine oocytes may still prove beneficial for producing canine embryos in vitro, when other supplements have been clearly defined. In future studies, incorporation of sperm or sperm factors may provide possible imformation on any role these may play on resumption of meiosis in oocytes.

The low rates observed in canine oocyte in vitro maturation could be attributed to both inadequate culture conditions and low meiotic competence of oocytes obtained from bitches during anestrus. A recent study that suggests different stages of the estrus cycle may effect the ability of canine oocytes to communicate with cumulus cells indicating a possible link with meiotic competence (25). In mammalian ovaries, gap junctions exist between the somatic compartment of the follicle and the oocyte (25). These gap junctions are involved with the regulation of oocyte meiotic differentiation and maturation, leading to the acquisition of meiotic and developmental competence (25). The Luvoni study suggests that cumulus-oocyte complexes obtained from bitches in anestrus are unable to complete meiotic maturation possibly due to a lack of communications through gap junctions of the germinal and the somatic regions of the oocyte. In contrast, oocytes obtained from bitches in late pro-estrus were able to complete meiosis (25). For oocytes collected during proestrus 89% (16/18) showed open communications through gap junctions while 0% (0/20) of oocytes collected during anestrus showed open communications (25).

The ovaries used to obtain oocytes in the current study are from bitches undergoing routine ovariohysterectomy. These bitches may be in any stage of the estrus cycle but it is more likely that most are in anestrus. We have no available way of knowing the stage of the estrus cycle a bitch is currently in when we obtain her ovaries and oocytes Development of an IVM system for canine oocytes would be most beneficial if applicable to oocytes collected from bitches in all stages of the estrus cycle. Assisted reproductive techniques are essential tools for aiding in the protection of valuable genetic material, such as gametes of endangered species, along with improving available treatments for infertility cases. Concern for endangered species who are related to the dog and dog owners faced with their pet's infertility have opened a renewed interest in developing ART techniques clinically applicable for the dog. Along with that of others in the field, our study shows the role of steroid hormones, gonadotropins and other factors on canine oocyte maturation to be inconclusive. A clear understanding of the physiology of the immature and mature canine oocyte and the canine oviductal environment may be necessary to develop reliable IVM and IVF techniques for the dog that are applicable to clinical intervention.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Abd el Razek IM, Charpigny G, Kodja S, Marquant-Leguienne B, Merillod P, Guyader-Joly C, Humblot P. Differences in lipid composition between in vovo- and in vitro- produced bovine embryos. Theriogenology 2001; 55: 346: abstr.
- 2. Bolamba D, Borden-Russ KD, Durrant BS. In vitro maturation of domestic dog oocytes cultured in advanced preantral and early antral follicles. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 933-942.
- 3. Calvin HI, Groshans K, Blake E. Estimation and manipulation of glutathione levels in prepuberal mouse ovaries and ova: relevance to sperm nucleus transformation in the fertilized egg. Gam Res 1986; 14: 265-275.
- 4. Carnero A, and Lacal J. Phospholipase-induced maturation of Xenopus laevis oo cytes: mitogenic activity of generated metabolites. J Cell Biochem 1993; 52; 440-448.
- Concannon PW. Canine physiology of reproduction. Philadelphia, Penn. Lea & Febiger, 1986.
- de Matos DG, Furnus CC, Moses DF, Baldassarre H. Effect of cysteamine on glu tathione level and developmental capacity of bovine oocyte matured in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 1995; 42: 432-436.

- 7. England GCW, Plummer JM. Hypo-osmotic swelling of dog spermatozoa. J of Repro Fertil Suppl 1993; 47: 261-270.
- 8. England GC, Verstegen JP, Hewitt DA. Pregnancy following in vitro fertilization of canine oocytes. Vet Rec 2001;148: 20-22.
- 9. Farstad W. Assisted reproductive technology in canid species. Theriogenology 2000; 53: 175-186.
- 10. Farstad W. Current state in biotechnology in canine and feline reproduction. Anim Reprod Sci 2000; 60-61: 375-387.
- Garcia de Herroros A, Dominguez I, Diaz-Meco M, Graziani G, Cornet M, Guddal P, Johansen T, Moscat J. Requirement of phospholipase C-catalyzed hydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine of maturation of xenopus laevis oocytes in response to insulin and ras p21. J Biol Chem 1991; 266: 6825-6829.
- 12. Harper MJK. Gamete and zygote transport. New York, New York. Raven Press, 1988.
- 13. Hewitt DA, England GC. Effect of preovulatory endocrine events upon maturation of oocytes of domestic bitches. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1997; 51: 83-91.
- 14. Hewitt DA, England GC. The canine oocyte penetration assay; its use as an indicator of dog spermatozoal performance in vitro. Anim Reprod Sci 1998; 50: 123-139.
- 15. Hewitt DA, England GC. Incidence of oocyte nuclear maturation within the ovarian follicle of the bitch. Vet Rec 1998; 143: 590-591.
- 16. Hewitt DA, England GC. Influence of gonadotrophin supplementation on the in vitro maturation of bitch oocytes. Vet Rec1999;144: 237-239.
- 17. Hewitt DA, Watson PF, England GC. Nuclear staining and culture requirements for in vitro maturation of domestic bitch oocytes. Theriogenology 1998; 49: 1083-1101.
- 18. Holst PA, Phemister RD. The prenatal development of the dog: preimplantation events. Biol Reprod 1971; 5: 194-206.
- 19. Hyttel P, Farstad W, Mondain-Monval M, Bakke Lajord K, Smith AJ. Structural aspects of oocyte maturation in the blue fox (Alopex lagopus). Anat Embryol 1990; 181: 325-331.
- 20. Keskintepe L, Darwish GM, Kenimer AT, Brackett BG. Term development of caprine embryos derived from immature oocytes in vitro. Theriogenology 1994; 42: 527-535.

- Krogenaes A, Nagyova E, Farstad W, Hafne A-L. In vitro maturation of blue fox oocytes and cAMP production in oocyte-cumulus cell complexes. Theriogenology 1993; 39: 250.
- 22. Lonergan P, Monaghan P, Rizos D, Boland MP, Gordon I. Effect of follicle size on bovine oocyte quality and developmental competence following maturation, fertiliza tion, and culture in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 1994; 37: 48-53.
- 23. Luvoni GC. Current progress on assisted reproduction in dogs and cats: in vitro embryo production. Reprod Nutr Dev 2000; 40: 505-512.
- 24. Luvoni GC, Colombo G. Effect of L-cysteine on in vitro maturation of domestic cat oocytes, in : Enne G. , Greppi G.F., Lauria a. (Eds.), Reproduction and Animal Breeding: Advances and Strategy. Paris: Elsevier 1995: 403-404.
- 25. Luvoni GC, Luciano AM, Modina S, Gandolfi F. Influence of different stages of the oestrous cycle on cumulus-oocyte communications in canine oocytes: effects on the efficiency of in vitro maturation. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 2001; 57: 141-146.
- 26. Luvoni GC, Testa P, Biondi PA. Intracellular glutathione content in feline oocytes matured in vitro in presence of L-cysteine. Theriogenology 2001; 55: 483.
- 27. Mahi CA, Yanagimachi R. Maturation and sperm penetration of canine ovarian oocytes in vitro. J Exp Zool 1976; 196: 189-196.
- 28. McEvoy TG, Coull GD, Speake BK, Staines ME, Broadbent PJ. Estimation of lipid and fatty acid composition. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility Abstract Series 1997; 20: 10.
- Meister A. Selective modification of glutathione metabolism. Science 1983; 220: 472-477.
- 30. Moor RM, Polge C, Willadsen SM. Effect of follicular steroids on the maturation and fertilization of mammalian oocytes. J Embryol Exp Morphol 1980; 56: 319-335.
- Nickson DA, Boyd JS, Eckersall PD, Ferguson JM, Harvey MJ, Renton JP. Molecu lar biological methods for monitoring oocyte maturation and in vitro fertilization in bitches. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1993; 47: 231-240.
- 32. Niswender G, Nett T. The corpus luteum and its control. New York, New York. Raven Press,1988.
- Olson PN, Bowen RA, Behrendt MD, Olson JD, Nett TM. Concentrations of repro ductive hormones in canine serum throughout late anestrus, proestrus and estrus. Biol Reprod 1982; 27: 1196-206.

- 34. Pavlok A, Motlik J, Kanka J, Fulka J. In vitro techniques of bovine oocyte maturation, fertilization and embryo culture resulting in the birth of a calf. Reprod Nutr Dev 1989; 29: 611-616.
- 35. Perreault SD. Regulation of sperm nuclear reactivation during fertilization. Norwell, Mass. Serono Symposia, 1990.
- Perreault SD, Barbee RR, Slott VL. Importance of glutathione in the acquisition and maintenance of sperm nuclear decondensing activity in maturing hamster oocytes. Dev Biol1988; 125: 181-186.
- 37. Pope CE, Schmid R, Dresser BL. In vitro development of cat embryos produced by in vitro fertilization is enhanced by addition of cysteine to the maturation medium and a reduced O2 atmosphere. Theriogenology 1995; 51: 291.
- 38. Schramm RD, Bavister BD. Effects of gonadotrophins, growth hormone and prolac tin on developmental competence of domestic cat oocytes matured in vitro. Reprod Fertil Dev 1995; 7: 1061-1066.
- Sobera L, Asturiano J, Carrillo M, Zanuy S. Effects of polyunsaturated fatty acids and prostalandins on ocyte maturation in a marine teleost, the European Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). Biol Reprod 2001; 64: 382-389.
- 40. Talamantes F, Ogren L. The placenta as an endocrine organ: polypeptides. New York, New York. Raven Press, 1988.
- 41. Tsutsui T. Gamete physiology and timing of ovulation and fertilization in dogs. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1989; 39: 269-275.
- 42. Weilenmann R, Arnold S, Dobeli M, Rusch PZerobin K. [Estrus induction in bitches by the administration of PMSG and HCG]. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd 1993; 135: 236-241.
- Yamada S, Shimazu Y, Kawaji H, Nakazawa M, Naito K, Toyoda Y. Maturation, fertilization, and development of dog oocytes in vitro. Biol Reprod 1992; 46: 853-858.
- 44. Yamada S, Shimazu Y, Kawano Y, Nakazawa M, Naito K, Toyoda Y. In vitro matura tion and fertilization of preovulatory dog oocytes. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1993; 47: 227-229.
- 45. Yoshida M. Role of glutathione in the maturation and fertilization of pig oocytes in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 1993; 35: 76-81.

- 46. Younis AI, Brackett BG, Fayrer-Hosken RA. Influence of serum and hormones on bovine oocyte maturation and fertilization in vitro. Gamete Res 1989; 23: 189-201.
- 47. Yu BP. Cellular defenses against damage from reactive oxygen species. Physiol Rev 1994; 74: 139-162.
- 48. Zuelke KA, Brackett BG. Luteinizing hormone-enhanced in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes with and without protein supplementation. Biol Reprod 1990; 43: 784-787.

	Estradiol 0.1 µg/ml	Estradiol 1.0 µg/ml	Estradiol 10.0 μg/ml	Progesterone 0.1 µg/ml	Progesterone 1.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 10.0 µg/ml	Control
GV	1/72	11/199	0/97	0/111	12/94	0/64	2/42
(%)	(1.39)	(5.53)	(0)	(0)	(12.77)	(0)	(4.76)
GVBD	32/72	92/199	50/97	26/111	29/94	13/64	6/42
(%)	(44.44)	(46.23)	(51.55)	(23.42)	(30.85)	(20.31)	(14.29)
MI/AI	0/72	1/199	0/97	0/111	5/94	0/64	0/42
(%)	(0)	(0.50)	(0)	(0)	(5.32)	(0)	(0)
MII	0/72	1/199	0/97	0/111	0/94	0/64	0/42
(%)	(0)	(0.50)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Unknown	39/72	94/199	47/97	85/111	48/94	51/64	34/42
(%)	(54.17)	(47.24)	(48.45)	(76.58)	(51.06)	(79.69)	(80.95)

Table 1: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 24 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml, Estradiol, 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml Progesterone, or no supplement (control) for 24 hours.

Table 2: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 48 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml, Estradiol, 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml Progesterone, or no supplement (control) for 48 hours.

	Estradiol 0.1 μg/ml	Estradiol 1.0 µg/ml	Estradiol 10.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 0.1 µg/ml	Progesterone 1.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 10.0 µg/ml	Control
GV	0/144	3/124	7/107	0/89	1/104	0/178	89/544
(%)	(0)	(2.42)	(6.54)	(0)	(0.96)	(0)	(16.36)
GVBD	22/144	67/124	48/107	37/89	67/104	44/178	177/544
(%)	(15.28)	(54.03)	(44.86)	(41.57)	(64.42)	(2442)	(32.54)
MI/AI	3/144	5/124	8/107	0/89	0/104	0/178	21/544
(%)	(2.08)	(4.03)	(7.48)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(3.86)
MII	0/144	1/124	0/107	0/89	0/104	0/178	11/544
(%)	(0)	(0.81)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(2.02)
Unknown	119/144	48/124	44/107	52/89	36/104	134/178	246/544
(%)	(82.64)	(38.71)	(41.12)	(58.43)	(34.62)	(75.28)	(45.22)

	Estradiol 0.1 µg/ml	Estradiol 1.0 µg/ml	Estradiol 10.0 µg/ml	Progesteroe 0.1 µg/ml	Progesterone 1.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 10.0 µg/ml	Control
GV	7/120	5/95	38/94	0/56	1/84	0/113	5/94
(%)	(5.83)	(5.26)	(40.42)	(0)	(1.19)	(0)	(5.32)
GVBD	44/120	48/95	35/94	23/56	34/84	50/113	66/94
(%)	(36.67)	(50.53)	(37.23)	(41.07)	(40.48)	(44.25)	(70.21)
MI/AI	14/120	10/95	5/94	1/56	6/84	1/113	1/94
(%)	(11.67)	(10.53)	(5.32)	(1.79)	(7.14)	(0.88)	(1.06)
MII	3/120	3/95	0/94	0/56	0/84	0/113	1/94
(%)	(2.50)	(3.16)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(1.06)
Unknown	52/120	29/95	16/94	32/56	43/84	62/113	21/94
(%)	(43.33)	(30.53)	(17.02)	(57.14)	(51.19)	(54.87)	(22.34)

Table 3: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 72 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml, Estradiol, 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml Progesterone, or no supplement (control) for 72 hours.

Table 4: Experiment 1 estrogen and progesterone 96 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml, Estradiol, 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0  $\mu$ g/ml Progesterone, or no supplement (control) for 96 hours.

	Estradiol 0.1 µg/ml	Estradiol 1.0 µg/ml	Estradiol 10.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 0.1 µg/ml	Progesterone 1.0 µg/ml	Progesterone 10.0 µg/ml	Control
GV	3/126	0/185	4/88	0/79	0/99	0/104	23/115
(%)	(2.38)	(0)	(4.54)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(21.74)
GVBD	53/126	28/185	48/88	33/79	16/99	38/104	32/115
(%)	(42.06)	(15.13)	(54.55)	(41.77)	(16.16)	(36.54)	(27.83)
MI/AI	0/126	0/185	0/88	1/79	3/99	1/104	19/115
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(1.27)	(3.03)	(0.96)	(16.52)
MII	0/126	0/185	0/88	0/79	0/99	0/104	5/115
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(4.35)
Unknown	70/126	157/185	36/88	45/79	80/99	65/14	34/115
(%)	(55.56)	(84.86)	(40.91)	(56.96)	(80.81)	(62.50)	(29.56)

	rFSH 0.1 IU/ml	rFSH 1.0 IU/ml	rFSH 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	4/140	4/97	2/102	4/135
(%)	(2.86)	(4.12)	(1.96)	(2.96)
GVBD	30/140	16/97	15/102	51/135
(%)	(21.43)	(16.49)	(14.71)	(37.78)
MI/AI	4/140	2/97	3/102	7/135
(%)	(2.86)	(2.06)	(2.94)	(5.19)
MII	2/140	0/97	0/102	3/135
(%)	(1.43)	(0)	(0)	(2.22)
Unknown	100/140	75/97	82/102	71/135
	(71.43)	(0)	(80.39)	(52.59)

Table 5: Experiment 2 FSH 24 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, rFSH or no supplement (control) for 24 hours.

Table 6: Experiment 2 FSH 48 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with
0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, rFSH or no supplement (control) for 48 hours.rFSH.

	rFSH 0.1 IU/ml	rFSH 1.0 IU/ml	rFSH 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	1/86	2/100	0/111	8/107
(%)	(1.16)	(2.00)	(0)	(7.48)
GVBD	25/86	35/100	36/111	33/107
(%)	(29.07)	(35.00)	(32.43)	(30.84)
MI/AI	5/86	4/100	3/111	9/107
(%)	(5.81)	(4.00)	(2.70)	(8.41)
MII	0/86	0/100	1/111	1/107
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0.90)	(0.93)
Unknown	61/86	59/100	71/111	56/107
	(70.93)	(59.00)	(63.96)	(52.33)

	rFSH 0.1 IU/ml	rFSH 1.0 IU/ml	rFSH 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	5/109	3/118	0/103	14/115
(%)	(4.59)	(2.54)	(0)	(12.17)
GVBD	32/109	37/118	37/103	32/115
(%)	(29.36)	(31.36)	(35.29)	(27.83)
MI/AI	5/109	4/118	4/103	3/115
(%)	(4.59)	(3.39)	(3.88)	(2.61)
MII	0/109	0/118	1/103	1/115
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0.97)	(0.87)
Unknown	57/109	74/118	61/103	64/115
	(52.29)	(62.71)	(59.22)	(55.65)

Table 7: Experiment 2 FSH 72 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, rFSH or no supplement (control) for 72 hours.

Table 8: Experiment 2 FSH 96 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1,
1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, rFSH or no supplement (control) for 96 hours.

	rFSH 0.1 IU/ml	rFSH 1.0 IU/ml	rFSH 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	0/131	0/113	0/101	13/119
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(10.92)
GVBD	21/31	16/113	15/101	24/119
(%)	(16.03)	(14.16)	(14.85)	(20.17)
MI/AI	4/131	4/113	6/101	2/119
(%)	(3.05)	(3.54)	(5.94)	(1.68)
MII	1/131	5/113	0/101	0/119
(%)	(0.76)	(4.42)	(0)	(0)
Unknown	105/131	88/113	80/101	80/119
	(80.15)	(77.88)	(79.21)	(67.23)

	eCG 0.1 IU/ml	eCG 1.0 IU/ml	eCG 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	13/260	0/41	0/115	0/105
(%)	(6.15)	(0)	(0)	(0)
GVBD	52/260	6/41	33/115	38/105
(%)	(20.00)	(14.63)	(28.70)	(36.19)
MI/AI	1/260	0/41	27/115	7/105
(%)	(0.38)	(0)	(23.48)	(6.67)
MII	0/260	0/41	0/115	2/105
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(1.90)

55/115

(47.83)

58/105

(55.24)

Table 9: Experiment 3 eCG 24 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, eCG or no supplement (control) for 24 hours.

Unknown

191/260

(73.46)

Table 10: Experiment 3 eCG 48 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, eCG or no supplement (control) for 48hours.

35/41

(85.37)

	eCG 0.1 IU/ml	eCG 1.0 IU/ml	eCG 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	2/57	1/50	6/90	0/42
(%)	(3.51)	(0.20)	(6.67)	(0)
GVBD	23/57	29/50	34/90	31/42
(%)	(40.35)	(58.00)	(37.78)	(73.81)
MI/AI	1/57	0/50	0/90	0/42
(%)	(1.75)	(0)	(0)	(0)
MII	0/57	0/50	0/90	0/42
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(0)
Unknown	31/57	20/50	50/90	11/42
	(54.39)	(40.00)	(55.56)	(26.19)

	eCG 0.1 IU/ml	eCG 1.0 IU/ml	eCG 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	0/43	0/44	3/115	0/35
(%)	(0)	(0)	(2.61)	(0)
GVBD	22/43	23/44	23/115	18/35
(%)	(51.16)	(52.27)	(20.00)	(51.43)
MI/AI	2/43	0/44	0/115	1/35
(%)	(4.65)	(0)	(0)	(2.86)
MII	0/43	1/44	0/115	0/35
(%)	(4.65)	(2.27)	(0)	(0)
Unknown	19/43	20/44	89/115	16/35
	(44.19)	(45.45)	(77.39)	(45.71)

Table11: Experiment 3 eCG 72 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, eCG or no supplement (control) for 72hours.

Table 12: Experiment 3 eCG 96 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1, 1.0 or 10.0 IU/ml, eCG or no supplement (control) for 96hours.

	eCG 0.1 IU/ml	eCG 1.0 IU/ml	eCG 10.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	4/195	16/45	0/120	0/27
(%)	(2.05)	(35.56)	(0)	(0)
GVBD	91/195	19/45	12/120	4/27
(%)	(46.67)	(42.22)	(10.08)	(14.81)
MI/AI	15/195	2/45	3/120	3/27
(%)	(7.69)	(4.44)	(2.50)	(11.11)
MII	0/195	0/45	0/120	1/27
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)	(3.70)
Unknown	85/195	8/45	105/120	19/27
	(43.59)	(17.78)	(87.50)	(70.37)

		-	
	LH 0.1 IU/ml	LH 1.0 IU/ml	Control
GV	5/142	8/128	3/156
(%)	(3.52)	(6.25)	(1.92)
GVBD	54/142	49/128	40/156
(%)	(38.03)	(38.28)	(25.64)
MI/AI	14/142	10/128	6/156
(%)	9.86)	(7.81)	(3.85)
MII	2/142	0/128	0/156
(%)	(1.41)	(0)	(0)
Unknown	67/142	61/128	107/156
(%)	(47.18)	(47.65)	(68.59)

Table 13: Experiment 4 LH 96 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1 or 1.0 IU/ml LH or no supplement (control) for 96 hours.

Table 14: Experiment 5 L-cysteine 96 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 0.1 or 1.0 mM/ml, L-cysteine or no supplement (control) for 72hours.

	L- cysteine 0.1 mM/ml	L-cysteine 1.0 mM/ml	Control
GV	1/432	4/384	0/280
(%)	(0.23)	(1.04)	(0)
GVBD	196/432	139/384	95/280
(%)	(45.37)	(36.20)	(0)
MI/AI	12/432	7/384	4/280
(%)	(2.78)	(1.82)	(1.43)
MII	8/432	0/384	2/280
(%)	(1.85)	(0)	(0.71)
Unknown	215/432	234/384	179/280
(%)	(49.77)	(0)	(63.93)

Table 15: Experiment 6 Arachidonic acid 72 hour culture data collected from oocytes cultured with 10 or 100 mM/ml, Arachidonic Acid or no supplement (control) for 72hours.

	Arachidonic Acid 10 mM/ml	Arachidonic Acid 100 mM/ml	Control
GV	0/121	0/121	0/180
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0)
GVBD	46/121	10/121	58/180
(%)	(38.02)	(8.26)	(32.22)
MI/AI	4/121	9/121	23/180
(%)	(0.033)	(7.44)	(12.78)
MII	0/121	0/121	1/180
(%)	(0)	(0)	(0.56)
Unknown	71/121	102/121	98/180
(%)	(58.76)	(84.30)	(54.44)

# **CHAPTER III**

# CONCLUSION

Assisted reproductive technologies have been developed for use in a variety of mammal. Specifically. now they are desired as clinical alternatives by dog owners facing infertility in their companion animals. These technologies including in vitro fertilization and intracytoplasmic sperm injection require the use of a metaphase II oocyte. The bitch ovulates an immature oocytes which matures to metaphase II while in the oviduct two days after ovulation. Oocyte in vitro maturation protocols used successfully in other species have failed to reliably mature canine oocytes to metaphase II.

We examined over 8,536 canine oocytes for nuclear maturation, analyzing the effects of a basic culture media supplemented with hormones (estradiol, progesterone, FSH, eCG, LH), the antioxidant L-cysteine or arachidonic acid. In each case an individual treatment was compared to basic media containing no supplements. The FSH treatments results in significantly (p < 0.05) more oocytes reaching metaphase II than the control group. None of the other hormones, the antioxidant, or arachidonic acid were shown to produce significantly more mature oocytes than the control group.

Our findings, along with that of other investigators, suggest that there are physiologic differences in the canine reproductive tract and the canine oocyte compared to other mammals. Successful maturation strategies may require innovative technologies or a different order of supplements. But the addition of rFSH appears to support the maturation of canine preantral oocytes to metaphase II.